Yew Tree House (Site)

Claypits Lane, Shrivenham

The history so far - By Neil B. Maw

The reason that we have put the title of this property in brackets (Site) is because in historical
terms, Yew Tree House is not particularly old. There is no mistaking when it was built as

the builders were very obliging. (Below).

But let’s have a look at the site in general as it is interesting. It will be useful here to first
start at a known point and search backwards. The map below is an extract from the
Barrington Estate Map of 1866. No 21 is listed as, ‘Farm buildings and Yard.” It was owned by
the Barrington Estate but occupied by the late George Canfield, who had died the year



previous. George had been the Landlord of the Barrington Arms since 1835, and was a
successful man. He built up the trade of the Barrington Arms Inn and also ran a Posting
House. This was similar to a modern-day taxi service. Horses and Post Chaises were always
ready and available to take customers wherever they needed to go. He was also very aware
of the importance of the Great Western Railway when Shrivenham Station opened in 1841.
Not only did he have a Post Chaise ready to meet every train he also built the Victoria Hotel
at the station, that opened in October 1842. This premises would go on as a public house,
the Victoria Inn, for 170 years, being converted to a domestic dwelling in 2015. The farm
buildings and yard at Claypits Lane were used by George Canfield for the preparation of
meat and dairy that he used in both his premises. His father William was a successful farmer
and eventually purchased Fern House in Manor Lane. We know from the letters of George
Merryweather that William rented a house from the Barrington Estate, and it’s possible that
it may have been the house that formerly stood on the site of Yew Tree House, but we have

no evidence to confirm that yet.

The house (No 22), was owned by the Barrington Estate but occupied by George Bush and
called a, “Cottage and Garden.” The description of a cottage at this period would tend to be
much larger than we might call the same today. Unfortunately, we have no description of
what the previous house looked like. It is very likely that a mistake had been made with his
first name on the estate map as the census for 1861 (Below) named him as James with no

mention of George in his family at all. He was a professional man, a Sub-Surveyor of Roads



and if we go back to the census of 1851 he was still in the same house with the same job. He
appeared on the Tithe Map of 1844 but his name was not listed in the 1841 census.
Therefore, it is likely he came to Shrivenham in 1842 from Seend in Wiltshire, but we know
nothing more about him at the moment. James Bush was still in his house in 1871 and was
listed on the census as a, ‘Foreman of Roads.” So, by this time he had been at the same house
for 30 years. He died in 1875 and was buried in St Andrew’s churchyard on 30th November.
His wife Hannah was still living there with their daughter Elizabeth according to the census
of 1881, but must have left soon after in order for the house to be demolished and a new one
built in its stead; the Yew Tree House we see today dated 1885. Hannah moved to the
Barrington Arms, the home of her daughter Martha who had married the landlord Thomas
Phipps at Shrivenham on 3rd June 1871. Hannah passed away a few years later and was
buried in St Andrew’s churchyard on 6th February 1892. Thomas Phipps seems to have had
a substantial involvement with Yew Tree House at that time. The Kelly’s Directory of 1887
listed him as the occupier, which invites the question of whether he owned the lease on the
new house. It also brings up the thought of whether there were still connections with the

Barrington Arms and the farmyard to the rear.

Bush James 50 Sub Surveyor of Roads

Bush Hannah 41 Wife of James

Bush Mary 19 Daughter of James. Servant
Bush John 17 Son of James. Road Labourer
Bush Martha 13 Daughter of James.

Bush Elizabeth 11 Daughter of James

Bush Louisa 6 Daughter of James.

Bush Alice 3 Daughter of James.




Nos. 23 & 24, on the Estate Map above of 1866 represents two cottages. (See below from 1934, just
before they were demolished) No. 23 was occupied by Henry Knapp and family and No. 24 by
William Cook and his family. Neither family were listed on the census of 1861 so we assume
that they had not been in the cottages very long. Henry Knapp and his family were still in
the northern of the two cottages in 1871 and the census listed that his son Alfred was 6 years
old. This fits in closely with the memories of the late Bill Knapp who was interviewed by
Shrivenham History Society in 1980, when he stated that, ‘his father was Alfred Knapp who was

born in a cottage that stood on the site where Yew Tree House now stands in 1864." (SHS Né61).
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Knapp Henry 33 Bricklayer

Knapp Sarah 35 Wife of Henry
Knapp Amelia 10 Daughter of Henry
Knapp Frederick el Son of Henry
Knapp Louisa 8 Daughter of Henry
Knapp Alfred 6 Son of Henry
Knapp Henry 5 Son of Henry
Knapp Leonard 3 Son of Henry

Census 1871




We have very little information on a Dr Wride. He was a medical doctor and came from
Swindon. In 1892 a newspaper advert announced he was leaving and therefore Yew Tree
House would be to let. The person to contact was T. Phipps of the Barrington Arms. (Swindon
Adver 2nd April 1892). And then an unusual advertisement appeared later the same year under
the headline of, ‘Cheap Farm to Let - 600 acres,” with the contact given as T., Yew Tree House.
(Swindon Adver 23 July 1892). The Kelly’s Directory of 1895 listed that Yew Tree House was
occupied by a Mrs Allaway, later discovered to be Anne Allaway, the daughter of the late
John Allaway of Lower Bourton. (Wilts & Glos Standard 26th August 1893). Documents discovered in
the St James papers (SJC N220 BOU.3) show that in 1892 William Henry Tucker, a direct relative
of the Tucker’s of Bourton, was writing letters to his fellow relatives and trustees of Bourton
School, with notepaper headed Yew Tree House, Shrivenham. The Allaway’s were related
by marriage to the Tuckers (see N147), so the connection of the two family’s here is not
surprising, but it’s uncertain what the relationship was between the two. William died in
1904 and was buried just across the road in St Andrew’s churchyard on the 25t May. Anne
Allaway died in 1908 and she too was interred in St Andrew’s on 1st April. After Anne’s
death the sale of her household furniture and effects appeared in a newspaper

advertisement to be sold from Yew Tree House on 7th May 1908. (Faringdon Adver 2nd May 1908).

It is difficult to draw any conclusion when studying the census of 1911. None of the listings
specify the house by name, and none of the people in that area of the listings, bear any
likeness in status to previous occupiers. An article in the local newspaper informed that for
a brief period in 1913, the occupier was Walter Lawrence. (Faringdon Adver 22nd April 1916). The
same article confirmed that the house was rented through an agency. We know that the
property was still owned by the Barrington Estate, therefore, it is a strong possibility as
mentioned above, that the leaseholder was Thomas Phipps of the Barrington Arms. The
newspaper article of 1916 was a report of a court case where a farmer from Ashbury sued
the tenant of Yew Tree House, a Mr H.K. Saunders, farmer, over a cooking range that he
had loaned to his son-in-law Walter Lawrence mentioned above, and had been left in the

house.

By 1922 it was becoming more urgent for the Barrington family to liquidate the assets that
were contained within the estate. A previous sale of the principal farms and associated
buildings in 1917, although not completely successful, had cleared away a considerable

amount of property. It was the sale of 1922 that offered Yew Tree House as Lot No 26 in the



catalogue, along with Shrivenham Farm, located around the corner at the Longcott road
turning of the High Street (Present day Catherine Close); described as a, ‘Mixed Agricultural
Holding, and part let to W.G. Williams & Sons. It is likely that they occupied the old
farmyard to the rear, but at the moment we don’t know who occupied the house. However,
Yew Tree House failed to sell at the auction and it was not until five years later that it left

the Barrington Estate.

Lot 26.

THE CAPITAL
Mixed Agricultural Holding
known as

Shrivenham Farm

the Parishes of Shrivenham and Ashbury comprising the brick built and slated Dwelling House
ing Stable and Coach House and Stableyard, known as

YEW TREE HOUSE,

Substantial Farm Homestead and two cottay the Village the whole having an ares of about

96ac. 3r. 27p.

£165-5-0 per annum

YEW TREE HOUSE has—
Tiled Entrance Hall Sitting Room 14fBin. x 14ft8in. (with bay in addition) having marble
Mantel and curb, iled Grate. Second Si Seullery

with force Pump, Cupboard under Stairs. avaiory.
Brick and tiled Nag Stable.  Trap House and O

THE FARM BUILDINGS situate in the High Sireet comprise

range of brick, stone and filed Cart Sh
Stable for 6 with stone floor. Brick m ceding Passage,
cemented Mangers and Water Trough. Fes d Barn.  Timber
and iron leanto shed. Rickyerd and Paddock

TWO STONE AND THATCHED COTTAGES
Nos. 15 & 16 High Strect.

Water by pumps from wells to House, buildings and Cottages.

The top of the conveyance below shows Yew Tree House leaving the estate and into the
hands of William Cox of Manor Farm, Longcott. The price he paid was £450. And it seems
that William Cox and family held on to it for just over 20 years. A small newspaper article
provided the information that a, ‘F.R. Cox of Yew Tree House, Shrivenham, was fined 7s 6d for
driving a car without a licence.” (North Wilts Herald 16th Feb 1940). However, the Kelly’s Directory for
1927, listed a R. Mitcham as the occupier, who was likely to have been the tenant when it

was sold.
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thousand nine hundreéd and twenty Seven

BULKEIEY Ninth VISCOUNT BARRINGTON (hereinafter and in the First Schedule

hereto called "the Vendor") of the first part FREDERIC JOHN WROTTESLEY

L ! of Fumber 4 New Court Lincoln's Inn in the County of London omeof His

z' ajesty's Counsel and LEONARD SARTORIS of Howard House Cardington In the
‘ PR /llcounty of Bedford Esquire (hereinafter called "the Trustees") of the

1 3 ! gecond part ERYEST WILLIAN SMITH BARTLETT of Glenburnie Bideford in the

county of Devon Gentlemen of the third part and WILLIAM CECRGE COX of

A L Menor Farm Longcot in the County of Berks Farmer (hereinafter called

*the Purchaser") of the fourth part WE

BAS under an Indenture of

A schedule of deeds within the papers of current owners (2021), provided the rest of the

history of the house and the site in general and may be thus briefly explained.

4 N
///HED USED’AS/DAIRY,
YARD
ixﬂ/‘ i
i S
B : Proposed Toilet
T ['NEW 3 »f- rain . ===
i )‘ar'aJT ’J’;‘ua Part 0.5 219
GARDEN
SHED, -
et OUSE a
CLAYPIT LANE.
BLOCK PLAN SCALE 1: 250
BBS AND- CHAMBERS “

Sketch map from the Hughes documents that show the house, land & yard




Mr W.G. Cox sold the premises to Mr Percy W. Harris on 27th January 1951 for £2300. The
purchase of the land next door to Yew Tree House, where two cottages formerly stood (Nos
23 & 24 on the 1866 Estate Map above) Was also by Percy Harris from the War Dept on 28th May 1951.
He also purchased the yard that was used historically as a farmyard by George Canfield,
(No 21 on same map), on 21st May 1955. Three years later, Percy Harris sold all of it to Major John
Charles Larminie of Andover by a conveyance dated 1st September 1958, price £3600. On
the last day of December 1960, the Major sold the house and piece of land next door to the

south to Edward Ferguson Cameron of Faringdon for £4500.
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L cantan One thousand nine
1und1 ed and sixty BETWEE N JUHEN CHARLES LARNINIE of Yew Tree House
Shrivenham in the County of Berks a Major in H.l. Army (hereinafter called

"the Vendor") of the one part and EDWARD FERGUSCN CAMERON of Swindon Road
Faringdon in the said County of Berks Milk Retailer (hereinafter called
"the Purchaser") of the other part

WHEREAS the Vendor is seised of the property hereinafter
mentioned for an estate in fee simple in possession free from incumbrances
and has agreed to sell the same to the Purchaser for the sum of Three
thousand four hundred pounds

N OW in pursuance of the said agreement and in consideration of the sum
of Three thousand four hundred pounds paid by the Purchaser to the Vendor
(the receipt whereof the Vendor hereby acknowledges)

BH IS CONVEY ANCE WICNESSETH as follows:-

1. The Vendor as Beneficial Owner hereby conveys unto the Purchaser ALL THAD

piece of land situate at Shrivenham in the County of Berks together with tha

mepsuage or dwellinghouse erected thereon or on some part or parts thereof

It was during this period that Edward (Eddie) Cameron established the Shrivenham Depot
of the Faringdon based, White Horse Dairy. The milk was processed in the dairy behind the
house, (now converted into a Bungalow known as The Old Dairy, No 26 Claypits Lane.) The milk floats were
loaded at the back of the house and exited alongside it to the main road via the narrow
Claypits lane. Eight years later Eddie Cameron sold the house to Barbara Bradley of May
Tree Cottage, Dodds Lane, Shrivenham for £7200.



Above: A White Horse Dairy milk bottle. Below: Top of
the conveyance selling Yew Tree House to Barbara
Bradley in 1968
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made

the M day of 9.‘“.,(‘{ One thousand nine hundred
and sixty eight BETWEEN EDWARD FERGUSON CAMERON formerly
of Swindon Road, Faringdon but now of Yew Tree House
Shrivenham in the County ot Berks Milk Retailer
(hereinafter called "“the Vendor") of the one part and
BARBARA EDITH AMY BRADLEY of May Tree Cottage Manor

TLane Shrivenham aforesaid wite of Dennis James Bradley

(hereinafter called "the Purchaser") of the other

partg

seised in fee simple

W H E R E A S {the Vendor is

in ¢ as hereinafter appearing but
otherwise free from incumbrances of the property
hereir and has agreed to sell the same to

sum of Seven thousand two hundred

pounds
NOW THIS DEED WITNESSETHas follews
1t In pursuance of the said Agreement and in

consideration of the sum of Seven thousand two hundred
ser to the Ve
whereof the Vendor hereby acknowledges) the Vendor as

S

pounds paid by the Purct r ( the receipt




Bryan and Suzanne Bowen next took possession of the house from the Bradley’s but we
have no firm date for when this occurred, but thought to be circa 1975. And lastly, in 1999,
owners Samuel Gordon and Elizabeth Mary Hughes, the current owners (2021), purchased

the property and have enhanced it with numerous additions.

Shrivenham Heritage Society would like to thank Gordon & Elizabeth Hughes and David
& Cecilia Peters, for allowing access to their property documents. If any reader has further

information that will enhance this listing, please get in touch with us:

info@shrivenhamheritagesociety.co.uk




